
Chester County Council Meeting 

1 | P a g e  
 

R. Carlisle Roddey Government Building 
1476 J A Cochran Bypass | Chester, SC 29706 

Monday, May 5, 2025 | 6:00 PM 

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a) April 21, 2025 County Council Meeting Minutes 

 

4. CITIZEN’S COMMENTS 

 

5. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

6. ORDINANCES | RESOLUTIONS | PROCLAMATIONS 

 

a) Proclamation in Honor of National Detention Officer Week 

 

b) Proclamation in Honor of National Police Week 

 

c) 1st Reading of Ordinance 2025-11 Chester County Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Budget Ordinance to 

establish operating and capital budgets for the operation of the County Government of 

Chester County, South Carolina for the fiscal year commencing July 1, 2025; to provide for the 

levy of taxes for Chester County for the fiscal year commencing July 1, 2025; to provide for the 

expenditure of tax revenues and other county funds; to provide for other county purposes; to 

authorize the county to borrow money in anticipation of taxes and to provide for the 

repayment of sums borrowed by the County Governing Body; to provide for the payment of 

tort claims and worker's compensation claims against Chester County; to provide for certain 

fiscal and other matters relating to County Government. 

 

7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

 

8. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

a) 3rd Reading Ordinance 2025-10 To amend Chapter 2 – Article VI- Boards, Committees, 

Commissions and Districts, Division 1. Generally- Section 2-266- Boards and Commissions 

appointed by Council; residency; vacancy; quorum; compensation by providing for revisions 

of the membership and operation of boards and commissions; and Section 2-267- Personnel 



 

2 | P a g e  
 

handbook, of the Code of Ordinances of Chester County, South Carolina to amend the 
ordinance numbering for Section 2-267; and to provide for other related matters. 

 

b) 3rd Reading of CCMA25-13 Daniel Duncan request Tax Map #079-01-10-005-000 located at 610 
Saluda Road, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from General Commercial District (GC) to 

Limited Commercial District (LC). The Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve. 

 

c) 3rd Reading of CCMA25-14 Kimberly Zarko requests a portion (1.5 acres) of Tax Map #040-00-

00-078-000 located at 1937 Baton Rouge Road, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Rural 

Two District (R2) to Rural One District (R1). The Planning Commission voted 5-0 to deny. 

 

d) 3rd Reading of CCMA25-15 Andrew Cope request Tax Map # 079-01-08-004-000 located of 

Parkway Drive, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Multi-

family Residential District (RG-1). The Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve. 

 

9. OLD BUSINESS 

 
a) From Chester County Transportation Committee meeting: 

1. Action taken regarding approval of Reimbursement to the Roads Department for 

Road and Sign Materials in the amount of $21,676.66 
2. Approval of Bid RFB 24-078.04: Chester CTC 2025 One-Time Money Program -  

2 State Roads to LCI-Lineberger Construction in the amount of $498,159.69 

3. Approval of Bid RFB 24-078.01: Chester CTC 2025 One-Time Money Phase I to LCI-
Lineberger Construction in the amount of $1,697,338.78 

4. Approval of Bid RFB 2425-30: Chester CTC 2025 Resurfacing 9 Roads to  

King Asphalt in the amount of $1,024,626.21 

5. Action taken regarding petition of ownership of McAliley Street 
 

10. NEW BUSINESS 

 
a) Fort Lawn Community Center Update 

Libby Sweatt-Lambert, Executive Director 

 
b) 1st Reading of CCMA25-16 Abhishek Devgan requests a portion (0.75 acres) of Tax Map #019-00-

00-011-000 located 3283 Pinckney Road, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Rural Two 

District (R2) to General Commercial District (GC). The Planning Commission voted 3-1 to 

approve. 
 

c) 1st Reading of CCMA25-17 GFI Partners requests Tax Map #097-00-00-030-000 (83.02 acres) 

located off Cedarhurst Road, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District 
(ID-2) to General Industrial District (ID-3). The Planning Commission voted 4-0 to approve. 

 

11. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

 



 

3 | P a g e  
 

12. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

a) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2038 

 

b) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2493 

 

c) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2106  

 

d) Legal advice regarding Project 2024-MPV 

 
13. ACTIONS FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

a) Action taken regarding Project P2038 

 

b) Action taken regarding Project P2493 
 

c) Action taken regarding Project P2106 

 

d) Action taken regarding Project 2024-MPV 
 

14.  COUNCIL COMMENTS  
 

15. ADJOURN 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing Institute of SC, 
WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester County Government Building 
twenty-four hours prior to the meeting.  

 
Guidelines for Addressing Council 

Citizens Comments: 
Each citizen will be limited to three minutes.  

Public Hearings:  
Each speaker will be limited to three minutes.  

When introduced:  
Approach the podium, state your name and address.  
Speak loudly and clearly, making sure that the microphone is not obstructed.  
Do not address the audience – direct all comments to Council.  
Do not approach the Council table unless directed.  

 Anyone addressing Council will be called out of order if you:  
Use profanity.  
Stray from the subject.  
Make comments personally attacking an individual member of Council.  



Chester County Council Meeting 

1 | P a g e  
 

R. Carlisle Roddey Government Building 
1476 J A Cochran Bypass | Chester, SC 29706 

Monday, April 21, 2025 | 6:00 PM 

MINUTES 
Present: Chairman Pete Wilson, Vice Chair Erin Mosley, Councilman Bobby Raines, Councilman Corey Guy, 
Councilman John Agee, County Administrator Brian Hester, County Attorney Nicole Workman, Clerk to Council 
Kristie Donaldson 
Absent: Councilman William Killian and Councilman Mike Vaughn 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Wilson called the meeting to order at 6:02pm and declared a quorum of council present. 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 
The allegiance was recited and invocation given by Councilman Guy. 

Chairman Wilson stated that we needed to add the Needs Assessment Public Hearing to the agenda. Vice Chair 

Mosley motioned to add, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 5-0 to add. 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a) April 7, 2025 County Council Meeting 
Councilman Guy motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 5-0 to approve. 

b) April 14, 2025 Budget Workshop Meeting Minutes 
Councilman Raines motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve. 

 

4. CITIZEN’S COMMENTS 
Mary Robinson of 628 Lancaster Hwy. Apt 319 addressed Council asking for donations toward building new 
schools in Chester County. 

Major Brad Whitesides with Chester County Sheriff’s Office addressed Council praising the hard work of the first 
responders during the recent school bus accident that happened on I-77 on Thursday, April 17, 2025.  

 

5. PUBLIC HEARING 
Chairman Wilson opened the public hearing and stated that no one had signed up to speak. He then offered for 
anyone present to speak, no one wished to speak. Chairman Wilson closed the public hearing. 

a) Ordinance 2025-10 To amend Chapter 2 – Article VI- Boards, Committees, Commissions and 

Districts, Division 1. Generally- Section 2-266- Boards and Commissions appointed by Council; 
residency; vacancy; quorum; compensation by providing for revisions of the membership and 

operation of boards and commissions; and Section 2-267- Personnel handbook, of the Code 

of Ordinances of Chester County, South Carolina to amend the ordinance numbering for 

Section 2-267; and to provide for other related matters. 
 

b) *Needs Assessment Public Hearing  

 
 



 

2 | P a g e  
 

6. ORDINANCES | RESOLUTIONS | PROCLAMATIONS 
 

a) 2nd Reading Ordinance 2025-10 To amend Chapter 2 – Article VI- Boards, Committees, 

Commissions and Districts, Division 1. Generally- Section 2-266- Boards and Commissions 
appointed by Council; residency; vacancy; quorum; compensation by providing for revisions 

of the membership and operation of boards and commissions; and Section 2-267- Personnel 

handbook, of the Code of Ordinances of Chester County, South Carolina to amend the 
ordinance numbering for Section 2-267; and to provide for other related matters. 
County Attorney Nicole Workman explained that the ordinance expanded guidance on meeting 

procedures, notice requirements for open positions, and membership criteria. It also included updates 
such as the renumbering of a section related to the personnel handbook, relocating it under the 
departmental section since it pertained to employees rather than boards and commissions. 
Vice Chair Mosley motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 5-0 to approve. 

b) Proclamation in Honor of South Carolina Stewardship Week 
Chairman Wilson presented a proclamation honoring Soil and Water Stewardship Week to be observed 

April 28-May 5, 2025. 

 

7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
Administrator Hester provided an update on several matters during his administrator's report. He first 

noted that Vista Properties had withdrawn their rezoning application for a 45.09-acre subdivision due to 
inability to comply with developmental agreement terms. He mentioned the upcoming first reading of 

the budget ordinance on May 5 and highlighted a successful budget workshop. Administrator Hester also 

briefed on the recent tragic bus accident on I-77. He expressed condolences to the Gonzalez-Linares 

family and praised the extraordinary response of first responders. Mr. Hester detailed the remarkable 
coordination between Chester County's emergency services and surrounding counties, emphasizing the 
professionalism and seamless teamwork displayed during the incident. He specifically commended 

various personnel, including local firefighters, EMS workers, law enforcement, and volunteers from 

Lancaster, Union, and other counties. Administrator Hester noted that 38 people were transported to the 
hospital within one hour, which he described as an incredibly efficient response. He stressed that despite 
the chaos, Chester County's emergency personnel demonstrated calm, courage, and exceptional skill in 

managing the complex and tragic situation. 
8. CONSENT AGENDA 

Councilman Guy motioned to approve, seconded by Vice Chair Mosley. Vote 5-0 to approve. 
a) 2nd Reading of CCMA25-13 Daniel Duncan request Tax Map #079-01-10-005-000 located at 610 

Saluda Road, Chester, SC 29706 from General Commercial District (GC) to Limited Commercial 

District (LC). The Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve. 
 

b) 2nd Reading of CCMA25-15 Andrew Cope request Tax Map # 079-01-08-004-000 located of 

Parkway Drive, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Multi-
family Residential District (RG-1). The Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve. 

 

9. OLD BUSINESS 

a) 2nd Reading of CCMA25-14 Kimberly Zarko requests a portion (1.5 acres) of Tax Map #040-00-
00-078-000 located at 1937 Baton Rouge Road, Chester, SC 29706 from Rural Two District (R2) 

to Rural One District (R1). The Planning Commission voted 5-0 to deny. 
Planning Director Jeremy Ward reported that he had presented new information to the Planning 
Commission regarding a rezoning request. The applicant had originally sought to rezone 1.5 acres of her 



 

3 | P a g e  
 

3.9-acre property from R2 to R1 in order to build a stick-built house for her daughter on a newly created 
rear lot. At the initial Planning Commission meeting, the commission had discussed the zoning precedent 

in the West Chester area and recommended that the applicant divide the land into two nearly two-acre 

lots instead of pursuing rezoning. The applicant had agreed, and the commission voted to recommend 
denial of the rezoning request. Mr. Ward explained that it was later discovered—after consultation with 
the surveyor—that the original survey was incorrect, and the applicant did not have enough usable land 
to create two two-acre lots. This new information was presented at the most recent Planning 
Commission meeting, and the four members present believed that, had they known this earlier, it could 

have altered their recommendation. They asked Mr. Ward to share this with the Council. He concluded by 
offering to answer any additional questions. 
Councilman Agee motioned to override the Planning Commission and approve the rezoning, seconded by 
Councilman Raines. Vote 5-0 to approve the rezoning. 

 

10. NEW BUSINESS 

a) Community Development Block Grant Program and Priority Needs List Review 

Grazier Rhea, Catawba Regional Council of Governments 
Ms. Rhea presented an overview of the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program. She 
explained that it was a federal program administered through the South Carolina Department of 

Commerce to provide assistance to local governments for economic and community development, 

particularly benefiting low and moderate-income people. 
Ms. Rhea detailed the program's five categories: community infrastructure, community enrichment, local 

priorities, program ready to go, and business development. She outlined the funding amounts available 
for each category, ranging from $150,000 to $1 million, with a required 10% match. She reviewed Chester 

County's 2024 priority needs list, which included upgrades to water, sanitary sewer, and storm sewer 

infrastructure, renovation and construction of facilities, and the upgrade of sidewalks. 

Ms. Rhea also discussed potential projects, including improvements to senior services facilities and 
infrastructure upgrades. She emphasized the importance of serving low and moderate-income areas and 

encouraged the county to consider various potential projects for future CDBG grant applications. 

b) Approval of Chester County 2025 Priority Needs List 
The following changes were made to the priority needs list from council suggestions: 

Upgrade of water and sewer lines to serve the Chester County Board of Disabilities, upgrades to the 
Senior Services facility, and Item 10 (Sidewalk upgrades for Gayle Mill Village) was moved to Item 3. 

Councilman Agee motioned to approve the 2025 Priority Needs list with the changes made, seconded by 
Councilman Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve. 

c) Consideration and Discussion of Chester County Subdivision Ordinances 

Jeremy Ward, Planning Director 
Planning Director Jeremy Ward presented the third draft of the county's subdivision ordinances, focusing 
on creating a unique, comprehensive policy that protects rural heritage while promoting responsible 
development. He proposed expanding subdivision classifications, increasing minor subdivisions from 9 to 

12 lots, and introducing new guidelines for gravel streets that would allow up to 6 houses on a single 

road (8 for family subdivisions). Director Ward highlighted the ordinance's key objectives, including 

establishing 20% open space requirements, adding outdoor amenity area specifications, and introducing 
the concept of conservation subdivisions. Councilman Raines and Councilman Agee expressed interest in 
the rural conservation subdivisions and requested a draft of text allowing rural conservation subdivisions 

with special approval as a short-term measure. Director Ward also emphasized the collaborative process, 
noting over 300 hours of review involving planners, citizens, and county officials. The draft aimed to 
balance affordable housing needs with infrastructure maintenance concerns, emergency vehicle access, 
and the preservation of Chester County's rural character. Chairman Wilson expressed deep reservations 

about the proposed subdivision ordinance changes, cautioning that the dramatic expansion of minor 



 

4 | P a g e  
 

subdivision allowances from nine to twelve lots and increasing gravel road house limits could overwhelm 
Chester County's infrastructure and create unintended long-term development challenges. Administrator 

Hester wanted to confirm that the proposed ordinance would set standards for non-engineered gravel 

roads to prevent situations where emergency vehicles might be unable to reach residents or could 
potentially be damaged while attempting to access a property. After discussion on gravel streets and 
minor subdivisions, the Council did not reach agreement on any option but decided to continue the 
matter in further discussions. 

d) Selection of Grievance Committee Members 

Nicole Workman, County Attorney 
Attorney Workman addressed Council stating that due to the updates made to our grievance policy at the 

last council meeting Council must appoint members to serve on the grievance committee. Mrs. Workman 
stated that in accordance with county policy, the committee consists of seven members: three exempt 

employees, three non-exempt employees, and two alternates. She stated that Mr. Hester and Ms. Mobley 
and herself compiled a list of employees from various departments that represent a range of experience 

and years of service. The list was provided at the council members’ desks. Administrator Hester stated 
that since Council is not aware of all employees or their exempt status, the list was put together for 

approval. He also stated that the employees selected represent varying levels of diversity, departments, 

and years of service. 
Vice Chair Mosley motioned to accept the proposed grievance committee, seconded by Councilman 
Raines. Vote 5-0 to accept.   

11. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

a) Fort Lawn Fire Protection District Appointment 
Councilman John Agee, District 1 
Councilman Agee motioned to appoint Mr. C.E. (Earl) Thrailkill, seconded by Vice Chair Mosley. Vote 5-0 to 

appoint. 

b) Hazel Pittman Center Board of Directors 

Councilman John Agee, District 1  
Councilman Agee motioned to appoint Mr. Tony Montello, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 5-0 to 

appoint. 

12. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Councilman Raines motioned to enter into executive session, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 5-0 to enter. 

a) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2529 
13. ACTIONS FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Vice Chair Mosley motioned to return to regular session, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 5-0 to return. 

a) Action taken regarding Project P2529 
Chairman Wilson stated this item was taken as information only. 

14.  COUNCIL COMMENTS  
No council comments. 

15. ADJOURN 

Vice Chair Mosley motioned to adjourn, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 5-0 to adjourn. 

 
Time of adjournment: 8:43pm 
 
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  
)  PROCLAMATION 

CHESTER COUNTY   )  

A PROCLAMATION IN HONOR OF NATIONAL DETENTION OFFICER WEEK 

WHEREAS, National Detention Officer Week is observed each year during the first full week 
of May to recognize and honor the hard work and dedication of detention officers across the 
nation;  

WHEREAS, detention officers are responsible for ensuring the safety and security of 
individuals in detention facilities, protecting the public, and maintaining order within their 
respective institutions; 

WHEREAS, detention officers demonstrate professionalism, strength, and unwavering 
commitment to their responsibilities, often working in difficult and high-pressure environments 
to uphold justice and maintain the integrity of the criminal justice system; 

WHEREAS, these dedicated men and women are critical to the operation of our detention 
facilities, making significant contributions to public safety, rehabilitation, and the effective 
functioning of the justice system; 

WHEREAS, National Detention Officer Week is an opportunity to recognize the unique 
challenges faced by detention officers and to express gratitude for their essential role in 
maintaining a secure and orderly environment in jails, prisons, and detention centers across the 
nation; 

WHEREAS, the Chester County Council acknowledges the dedication and sacrifice made by 
detention officers in the performance of their duties and honors their commitment to the safety 
and security of our communities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Pete Wilson, Chairman on behalf of the Chester County Council, do 
hereby proclaim the first full week of May 2025 as National Detention Officer Week and 
encourages all citizens to join in recognizing the vital contributions made by detention officers to 
our justice system and public safety. The Chester County Council expresses its deepest gratitude 
to all detention officers, both past and present, for their unwavering professionalism, courage, 
and commitment to service. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my 
hand and caused the Seal of Chester County to be 
fixed this 5th day of May, in the Year of our Lord, 
Two Thousand, Twenty-Five. 

 
 

 
Pete Wilson, Chairman 
Chester County Council  

ATTEST: 
 
 
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to Council  



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  
)  PROCLAMATION 

CHESTER COUNTY   )  

 
A PROCLAMATION IN HONOR OF NATIONAL POLICE WEEK 

WHEREAS, National Police Week is observed each year during the week of May 15th to honor 
and recognize the dedicated men and women of law enforcement who serve and protect our 
communities; 

WHEREAS, law enforcement officers are the first line of defense against crime and violence, 
often placing themselves in harm’s way to protect the public, ensure safety, and uphold the rule 
of law; 

WHEREAS, law enforcement officers across the nation face challenges and dangers each day, 
demonstrating immense courage, integrity, and professionalism in their commitment to 
preserving peace and justice; 

WHEREAS, the sacrifices made by law enforcement officers, including those who have lost 
their lives in the line of duty, deserve our deepest respect, recognition, and gratitude; 

WHEREAS, National Police Week provides an opportunity to honor those who have fallen, 
celebrate the bravery of our active officers, and raise awareness of the vital role they play in 
creating safer, stronger communities; and 

WHEREAS, Chester County Council recognizes the tireless efforts, sacrifices, and dedication of 
our local law enforcement officers and appreciates their work to serve and protect all citizens. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Pete Wilson, Chairman on behalf of Chester County Council, do 
hereby proclaim the week of May 15, 2025, as National Police Week, and encourages all 
citizens to join in paying tribute to law enforcement officers across our community, state, and 
nation. The Chester County Council expresses its deepest gratitude to all law enforcement 
officers, both past and present, for their commitment to safeguarding our communities, 
promoting justice, and fostering peace. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand 
and caused the Seal of Chester County to be fixed this 5th 
day of May, in the Year of our Lord, Two Thousand, 
Twenty-Five. 

 
 
 

Pete Wilson, Chairman 
Chester County Council  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to Council  



NO.: 2025-11

Department
Personnel Operating Capital Allocations Totals

101 County Council 176,458   36,500   212,958  
102 Delegation 23,391   500   23,891  
105 County Administrator 303,185   10,500   313,685  
106 Finance 296,209   46,100   342,309  
107 Project Manager 3,586   3,586  
108 Communications Office 75,726   13,530   89,256  
110 Human Resources 278,230   149,400   427,630  
115 Purchasing Department 141,685   3,200   144,885  
120 County Treasurer 337,230   62,715   399,945  
125 Delinquent Tax Collector 134,795   59,650   194,445  
130 Auditor 206,862   4,935   211,797  
135 Tax Assessor 397,572   44,044   441,616  
140 Planning and Zoning 211,236   334,300   545,536  
141 Planning and Development 6,705   6,705  
145 Economic Development 181,214   69,810   251,024  
150 Coroner 195,088   72,800   267,888  
155 Registration and Election 163,735   84,250   247,985  
160 County Garage 134,009   277,600   411,609  
170 Building Maintenance 498,833   673,379   1,172,212  
175 Airport 40,000  40,000  
176 Information Technology 198,949   574,982   773,931  
177 Utilities 870,000   870,000  
178 Telephone 122,400   122,400  
179 Postage 47,000   47,000  
180 Bond Insurance 3,000   3,000  
181 Property and Liability Insurance 873,516   873,516  
182 Worker's Compensation Insurance 329,752   329,752  
183 Unemployment Benefits 10,000   10,000  
185 Employee Health Insurance 2,485,000   2,485,000  
186 Audit Expense 90,000   90,000  
187 Catawba Regional 39,017   39,017  
188 SC Association Of Counties 8,898   8,898  
189 Grant Matching Funds 243,235   243,235  
190 Contingent Fund 250,000   250,000  
194 Copier Lease 57,344   57,344  
199 Litter Enforcement 57,630   6,210   63,840  
210 GIS 185,900   185,900  
215 QS1 309,978   309,978  
220 Medical Services 270,000   270,000  
250 Attorney Services 150,948   31,670   182,618  
255 Clerk of Court 512,050   103,500   615,550  
260 Family Court 223,163   9,700   232,863  
265 Probate Judge 311,428   19,585   331,013  
275 Chester Magistrate 523,491   47,600   571,091  

GENERAL FUND

TO ESTABLISH OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGETS FOR THE OPERATION OF THE COUNTY GOVERNMENT OF 
CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA FOR THE FISCAL YEAR COMMENCING  JULY 1, 2025; TO PROVIDE FOR THE 
LEVY OF TAXES FOR CHESTER COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR COMMENCING JULY 1, 2025; TO PROVIDE FOR THE 
EXPENDITURE OF TAX REVENUES AND OTHER COUNTY FUNDS; TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER COUNTY PURPOSES; TO 
AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY TO BORROW MONEY IN ANTICIPATION OF TAXES AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE 
REPAYMENT OF SUMS BORROWED BY THE COUNTY GOVERNING BODY; TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT OF TORT 
CLAIMS AND WORKER'S COMPENSATION CLAIMS AGAINST CHESTER COUNTY; TO PROVIDE FOR CERTAIN 
FISCAL AND OTHER MATTERS RELATING TO COUNTY GOVERNMENT.

FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
CHESTER COUNTY

AN ORDINANCE

1  Page



FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
CHESTER COUNTY

Department
Personnel Operating Capital Allocations Totals

292 Circuit Court 1,300                        1,300                          
295 Public Defender 244,509              244,509                      
299 Solicitor 406,719              406,719                      
301 Sheriff's Department 5,269,138                 841,062                    41,585                    6,151,785                   
340 Detention Center 2,579,063                 601,065                    3,180,128                   
345 Fire Coordinator 1,167,595                 753,185                    1,920,780                   
350 Rural Fire Department 795,511                    795,511                      
355 Emergency Management 155,238                    18,100                      173,338                      
360 E911 1,603,445                 405,634                    2,009,079                   
365 Animal Control 388,515                    153,498                    542,013                      
370 Chester County Rescue Squad 12,000                12,000                        
375 Great Falls Rescue Squad 12,000                12,000                        
401 Road Department 231,326                    85,550                      316,876                      
402 Public Works 190,482                    7,000                        197,482                      
405 Litter Control 145,534                    4,350                        149,884                      
501 E.M.S. 4,029,468                 399,182                    543,783                  4,972,433                   
505 Veteran's Affairs 110,366                    3,850                        114,216                      
510 Department of Social Services 53,000                53,000                        
515 D.H.E.C. 48,300                48,300                        
530 Senior Services 15,000                15,000                        
535 Hazel Pittman Center 10,000                10,000                        
540 Chester Lancaster Disabilities 4,050                  4,050                          
545 Soil and Water Conservation 11,000                11,000                        
555 Indigent Patients 55,000                55,000                        
560 Keystone 5,000                  5,000                          
601 Recreation 169,409                    64,606                      234,015                      
615 Clemson Extension 10,000                10,000                        
625 Great Falls Hometown Association 12,000                12,000                        
626 Palmetto Citizens Against Sexual Assault 5,000                  5,000                          
627 Summer Feeding Program  5,000                  5,000                          
629 Catawba Community Mental Health Center 3,000                  3,000                          
630 Fort Lawn Community Center 4,050                  4,050                          
700 Salary Study Implementation Phase IV 378,233                    378,233                      
710 Reserve for Encumbrance

Total Personnel 24,975,681               
Total Operating 10,250,932               

Total Capital 585,368                  
Total County Allocations 955,628              

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 36,767,609                 

Solid Waste Collection 1,150,696                   
Lando Fire District 217,175                      
Chester Fire District 2,565,529                   
Library Operations 995,000                      
York Tech 400,000                      
Lewis Fire District 124,700                      
Fort Lawn Fire District 286,495                      
Richburg Fire District 1,109,450                   

TOTAL MILLAGE FUNDS 6,849,045                   

E-911 Funds 326,350                      
C-Funds 1,499,000                   
Victims Assistance Fund 143,160                      
Economic Development 4% FILOT 305,356                      
Capital / Rolling Stock Program 2,244,303                   
Capital Reserve Fund 200,000                      
American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 2,165,693                   
State ATAX 137,000                      
County Local ATAX 351,532                      

TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 7,372,394                   

Solid Waste Disposal 1,976,554                   
Gateway Conference Center 493,110                      

TOTAL ENTERPRISE FUND 2,469,664                   

Lando Fire District Debt Service 100,096                      
Fort Lawn Fire District Debt Service 45,662                        
Chester County Debt Service Retirement 2,722,768                   
Capital Project Sales Tax Debt Service 2,543,297                   
Richburg Fire District Debt Service 284,323                      
Chester Fire District Debt Service 185,960                      

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 5,882,106                   

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 59,340,818$               

DEBT SERVICE FUND

MILLAGE FUNDS

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

ENTERPRISE FUND

2  Page



FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
CHESTER COUNTY

PROPERTY TAX
Real and Personal 13,011,779                 
Vehicle Taxes 2,095,024                   
Delinquent Tax Collections 750,000                      
Local Option Taxes - Credit Fund 3,577,906                   
Local Option Taxes - County Revenue Fund 1,386,062                   
Homestead Exemption 1,130,000                   
Manufacturers Reimbursement 1,426,000                   
P.I.L.O.T. 266,000                      
Fee-in-Lieu of Taxes 5,194,780                   
Merchants Inventory 90,024                        

28,927,575                 

LICENSES, FEES, FINES AND PERMITS
Magistrates 421,000                      
Clerk of Court - Fines and Fees 356,000                      
Family Court 93,500                        
Vehicle Decal Fees 27,000                        
Tax Collector 94,000                        
Probate Judge 78,000                        
Zoning Fees 14,200                        
Building Permits 1,000,000                   

2,083,700                   

INTERGOVERNMENTAL
Local Government Revenue 1,970,469                   
Accomodations Tax - State Allocation 50,000                        
Salary Supplement - Elected Officials 63,750                        
Operating Transfer In 50,000                        
Town of Great Falls - Fire Allocation 100,000                      
Sheriff Local Sources 9,000                          

2,243,219                   

OTHER INCOME
EMS Fees 1,950,000                   
Franchise Fees 19,600                        
D.S.S. 6,500                          
Interest Income 885,000                      
Rentals 60,000                        
National Forest Fund 48,000                        
Animal Control Revenue 9,500                          
Appropriation of Fund Balance 335,915                      
Miscellaneous 198,600                      

3,513,115                   

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 36,767,609                 

PROPERTY TAXES
Chester Fire District 2,565,529                   
Lando Fire District 217,175                      
Lewis Fire District 124,700                      
Fort Lawn Fire District 286,495                      
Richburg Fire District 1,109,450                   
Library Operations 995,000                      
Solid Waste Collection 1,150,696                   
York Tech 400,000                      

TOTAL MILLAGE FUNDS 6,849,045                   

SECTION 2:  For the purposes of meeting the appropriation made in this ordinance the following receipts and anticipated revenues of Chester County are 
hereby allotted for such purposes, together with all other income not specifically allocated to other purposes.  It is estimated that the following special 
revenues will accrue to Chester County during the fiscal year:

MILLAGE FUNDS

GENERAL FUND

3  Page



FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
CHESTER COUNTY

E-911 Funds 326,350                      
C-Funds 1,499,000                   
Victims Assistance Fund 143,160                      
Economic Development 4% FILOT 305,356                      
Capital / Rolling Stock Program 2,244,303                   
Capital Reserve Fund 200,000                      
American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 2,165,693                   
State ATAX 137,000                      
County Local ATAX 351,532                      

TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 7,372,394                   

USER FEES
Solid Waste Disposal 1,976,554                   
Gateway Conference Center 493,110                      

TOTAL ENTERPRISE FUND 2,469,664                   

Lando Fire District Debt Service 100,096                      
Fort Lawn Fire Debt Service 45,662                        
Chester County Debt Service Retirement 2,722,768                   
Capital Project Sales Tax Debt Service 2,543,297                   
Richburg Fire District Debt Service 284,323                      
Chester Fire District Debt Service 185,960                      

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE FUND 5,882,106                   

TOTAL REVENUE 59,340,818$               

DEBT SERVICE FUND

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

ENTERPRISE FUND

4  Page



 

5 | P a g e  

 

 
To further meet the appropriations provided by this ordinance, The Chester County Auditor is 

authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in Chester County, South Carolina, and the 
Chester County Treasurer is directed to collect a tax necessary to meet all budget requirements, except 
as provided for by other revenue sources, for the operation of the county government for the fiscal year 
beginning July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026. 

  
SECTION 3: All County purchases shall be made in accordance with the Ordinance 

establishing a centralized purchasing system for the procurement of goods and services required by 
Chester County in conformity with purchasing policies and procedures established and approved by 
the County governing body.  The appropriations provided in the ordinance shall not in any case be 
exceeded, and any contracts which may be made, or which may in any manner provide for the 
expenditure of funds in excess of those provided in this ordinance shall not be binding upon Chester 
County. Any person, firm, corporation, or other organization selling supplies or commodities or 
rendering services to Chester County is charged with the duty of ascertaining in advance whether or 
not the appropriations for that purchase are sufficient to pay for the furnishing of such supplies, 
commodities, or services. 
 
 SECTION 4: No money appropriated for any specific purpose under the provisions of this 
ordinance shall be used for any other purpose than that specified; provided however, that the Chester 
County Administrator may reallocate budgeted but unexpended funds within any county office, 
department, board, commission or institution receiving County funds; provided, further that the 
Chester County Council or a majority thereof may in its discretion by proper resolution transfer or 
reallocate budgeted but unexpended funds from one County office, department, board, commission, or 
institution to another.  The County Administrator may allocate budgeted but unexpended Contingency 
funds between county departments without Council approval. Also, any reallocation of unexpended 
funds that obligates future budgets must be approved by Chester County Council. Any amount 
appropriated in this ordinance may be discontinued at any time by appropriate action of a majority of 
the County governing body. 
 
 SECTION 5: The County is hereby empowered to borrow in anticipation of tax or other 
revenues for County purposes any sum not exceeding the amount anticipated to be received from taxes 
and other revenues during the current or succeeding fiscal year, and not only to pledge the taxes or 
other revenues anticipated in the current or succeeding fiscal year, but to pledge, also, the full faith and 
credit of Chester County for repayment of any sums so borrowed.  Such sums shall be borrowed from 
any banking institution or lending agency and shall be payable at such time, upon such items and in 
such sums as may be negotiated between the County and the lender.  
 
 SECTION 6: The Chester County Attorney shall represent all agencies, boards and officials 
and subdivisions in Chester County, which are subject to the budgetary controls of the County Council. 
Said attorney shall not represent any organization, agency or individual in any matter coming before 
the County Council. In legal matters in which the County Attorney requests authority to associate other 
counsel, and such authority is approved by the County governing body, County funds may be 
expended as compensation for such associate counsel. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

6 | P a g e  

 

 SECTION 7: An independent annual audit of all financial records and transactions of the 
County shall be made by a Certified Public Accountant or Firm of public accounts who have no 
personal interest, direct or indirect in the fiscal affairs of the County government of Chester County or 
any of its officers.  The County Council may, without requiring competitive bids, designate such 
accountant or firm annually or for a period not exceeding one year, provided that such designation 
shall be made not later than thirty (30) days after the beginning of such fiscal year. Unless included in 
the Annual County audit, an annual audit of each agency, board, bureau, or commission of Chester 
County, funded in whole or in part by County funds shall be made. Copies of the annual audit and such 
other audits as required by this section shall be filed in the office of the Clerk of Court for Chester 
County and provided for the Chester County Administrator and every member of the County 
governing body. The audit reports shall be made available for public inspection. 
 
 SECTION 8: When employees are required to travel on official business, the County shall pay 
reasonable amounts for transportation, meals, and lodging. If the employee's personal vehicle is 
utilized, the employee shall be reimbursed at the current published IRS rate.  Per diem for meal 
expenses will be paid but may not exceed $35.00 for a twenty-four-hour period for in state travel, 
$50.00 for out-of-state travel, and $50.00 for Coastal Area travel. 
 
 SECTION 9: The Chester County Tax Collector may call upon the Chester County Sheriff or 
any deputy or constable of the County to render such aid and assistance as may be necessary in the 
ejectment of any occupant or tenant in possession of any property at any time when ejectment shall be 
lawful and proper in the discharge of the duties of the office of Tax Collector.  Such aid and assistance 
shall be rendered without cost other than those provided by law. 
 
 SECTION 10: The fiscal and budgetary year of Chester County Government shall commence 
on the first day of July of each year and shall end on the 30th day of June the following year. All 
offices, departments, boards, commissions, agencies, or institutions receiving County funds shall make 
a full, detailed annual fiscal report to the County Council at the end of each fiscal year. The County 
Council may from time to time make supplemental appropriations, which shall specify the source of 
funds for such appropriations. The County governing body or the County Administrator may require 
reports, estimates and statistics from any County agency or department as may be necessary in the 
preparation of annual budgets or supplemental appropriations. The Chester County Finance Office 
shall provide a monthly report of revenues, expenditures, and cash balances to the County Council. 
 
 SECTION 11: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
the Lando Fire District in Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to 
collect a tax of $217,175 which shall be utilized for the support of the Lando Fire District.  The total 
amount appropriated for the Lando Fire District is $217,175. 
 

SECTION 12: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to collect a tax of $100,096 
which shall be applied to the retirement of Lando Fire District bonded indebtedness.  The total amount 
appropriated for the Lando Fire District bond retirement is $100,096. 
 
 
 
 



 

7 | P a g e  

 

SECTION 13: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
the Lewis Fire District in Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to 
collect a tax of $124,700 which shall be utilized for the support of the Lewis Fire District.  The total 
amount appropriated for the Lewis Fire District is $124,700. 
 

SECTION 14: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
the Fort Lawn Fire District in Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to 
collect a tax of $286,495 which shall be utilized for the support of the Fort Lawn Fire District.  The 
total amount appropriated for the Fort Lawn Fire District is $286,495. 

 
SECTION 15: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 

this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to collect a tax of $45,662 which 
shall be applied to the retirement of Fort Lawn Fire District bonded indebtedness.  The total amount 
appropriated for the Fort Lawn Fire District bond retirement is $45,662. 
 

SECTION 16: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
the Chester Fire District, in Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to 
collect a tax of $2,565,529 which shall be utilized for the support of the Chester Fire District.  The total 
amount appropriated for the Chester Fire District is $2,565,529. 

 
SECTION 17: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 

this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to collect a tax of $185,960 
which shall be applied to the retirement of Chester Fire District bonded indebtedness.  The total 
amount appropriated for the Chester Fire District bond retirement is $185,960. 

 
SECTION 18: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 

this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
the Richburg Fire District, in Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to 
collect a tax of $134,166 which shall be utilized for the support of the Richburg Fire District.  The total 
amount appropriated for the Richburg Fire District is $1,109,450. 
 

SECTION 19: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to collect a tax of $284,323 
which shall be applied to the retirement of Richburg Fire District bonded indebtedness.  The total 
amount appropriated for the Richburg Fire District bond retirement is $284,323. 
 
 SECTION 20: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
the unincorporated area of Chester County, South Carolina, and the Chester County Treasurer is 
directed to collect a tax of $1,150,696 which shall be utilized for the support of Solid Waste 
Collection.  The total amount appropriated for Solid Waste Collection is $1,150,696. 
 
 



 

8 | P a g e  

 

 SECTION 21: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to collect a tax of $2,722,768 
which shall be applied to the retirement of Chester County bonded indebtedness.  The total amount 
appropriated for the Chester County bond retirement is $2,722,768. 
 
 SECTION 22: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to collect a tax of $995,000 
which shall be utilized for the support of the Chester County Library.  The total amount appropriated 
for the Chester County Library is $995,000. 
 

SECTION 23: In addition to the other taxes levied, assessed and collected under Section 2 of 
this ordinance, the Chester County Auditor is authorized and directed to levy upon taxable property in 
Chester County, South Carolina, and the County Treasurer is directed to collect a tax of $400,000 
which shall be utilized for the support of the York Technical College campus in Chester County.  The 
total amount appropriated for the York Technical College campus is $400,000. 
 

SECTION 24: Agencies, boards, and commissions which are partially funded by other counties 
and/or other governmental units must certify to the County the amount of funds appropriated by the 
other counties and/or other governmental units prior to receiving any of the funds appropriated by this 
ordinance. 
 
 SECTION 25: Funds appropriated under this ordinance from the General Fund to any 
Department, Board or Agency, or for any other purpose, but unexpended during the fiscal year, shall 
revert to the General Fund of Chester County at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
 SECTION 26: Building permit fees will be based on the current scale of the International 
Building Codes or the actual cost of construction when the applicant can show detailed estimated cost 
to meet the approval of the building official. The minimum permit fee for a building permit, electrical 
permit, gas permit, plumbing permit, mechanical permit, transfer permit, refund permit and re-
inspection permit shall be $30.00. The minimum fee for a mobile home permit shall be $200.00, which 
shall include a $5.00 mobile home license fee. Other planning and zoning fees are listed under 
SECTION 27 of this ordinance. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

9 | P a g e  

 

 
SECTION 27: All taxes, fees, charges, and assessments not otherwise allocated by law shall be 
deposited in the Chester County general fund with other general fund revenues. All such taxes, fees, 
charges, and assessments shall be appropriated and allocated by the Chester County Council in the 
manner as other general revenues. 
 
 
BUILDING FEE ($) 
911 Address Stakes 20.00 
Manufactured Homes (Minimum Fee) 205.00 
Residential Plan Review  ½ cost of permit 
Commercial/Industrial Plan Review  ½ cost of permit 
Residential Re-inspection Fee $50.00 
Commercial Re-Inspection Fee $100.00 
  
ZONING  
Commercial Zoning Compliance Letters 35.00 
Residential Zoning Compliance 20.00 
Manufactured Zoning Compliance  20.00 
Home Occupation Letter  35.00 
Commercial/Industrial Zoning Site Plan Review   300.00 
Zoning Site Plan Re-Review                          75.00 
Site Review  35.00 
Certificate of Occupancy Zoning Site Review  35.00 
Rezoning                               Per Parcel: Residential/Non-Residential                                                                             
                                              PUD/Planned Development  

 150.00/300.00 
1000.00 

Special Exception: Residential/ Non-Residential   150.00/300.00 
Variance: Residential/Non-Residential  150.00/300.00 
New Communication Towers 1000.00 
Zoning Ordinance Book  35.00 
Comprehensive Plan Book  35.00 
Zoning Maps  35.00 
Flood Plain Review                                                                                Residential                               25.00 

 Commercial  50.00 
                                                                                                            Industrial  100.00 

LAND DEVELOPMENT   
Variance, Flag Lot, Easement, Street Access, and Private Rural Community 
Drive  

150.00 

Plat Approval (Five Sealed Copies) 20.00 
Each additional Plat Approval (per sealed copy) 5.00 
Sketch Plan Review  100.00 
Preliminary Plat Approval (per lot)                         20.00 
Final Plat Approval (per lot) 10.00 
Land Development Book 35.00 
Grading                                                                       3 acres or less 
                                                                                    4 to 11 acres 
                                                                                    12 to 51 acres 
                                                                                    52 to 99 acres  
                                                                                    Over 100 acres  

90.00 
120.00 
205.00 
340.00 
475.00 

Culvert                                                             Single  350.00 
                                                                         Multi-Family  650.00 
                                                                         Commercial/Industrial   650.00 
Stop Sign   75.00 
Speed Limit Sign  75.00 
End of County Maintenance Sign  75.00 
  



 

10 | P a g e  

 

PARKS AND RECREATION FEE ($) 
County Owned / Leased Recreational Facilities 100.00 
  
CHESTER WAR MEMORIAL BUILDING  875.00 
Booking Deposit – 25% of Total Rental (Non-refundable)  
Security Deposit - $500 Credit Card Authorization  
Post Event Cleanup Option - $200   
  
GREAT FALLS WAR MEMORIAL BUILDING  500.00 
Booking Deposit – 25% of Total Rental (Non-refundable)  
Security Deposit - $500 Credit Card Authorization  
Post Event Cleanup Option - $200  
  
THE GATEWAY CONFERENCE CENTER  
Pricing for Sunday – Thursday  
Grand Ballroom (A, B & C), 9,390 sq. ft. 4,800.00 
Petite Ballroom (A & B), 6,031 sq. ft. 2,400.00 
Ballroom A, 3,462 sq. ft. 1,300.00 
Ballroom B, 2,569 sq. ft. 1,300.00 
Ballroom C, 3,969 sq. ft. 2,400.00 
Grand Salon, 2,852 sq. ft. 1,200.00 
Salon A, 1,406 sq. ft., ($204/4 hours-$255/5 hours) 700.00 
Salon B, 1,446 sq. ft., ($228/4 hours-$285/5 hours) 700.00 
Grand Meeting Room, 3,064 sq. ft. 1,350.00 
Petite Meeting Room (A & B), 2,128 sq. ft. 1,260.00 
Meeting Room A, 1,073 sq. ft., ($228/4 hours-$285/5 hours) 650.00 
Meeting Room B, 1,055 sq. ft., ($204/4 hours-$255/5 hours) 650.00 
Meeting Room C, 936 sq. ft. 450.00 
L&C Conference Room, 396 sq. ft. 210.00 
*** In addition to the rental charge, there will be a $500 credit card authorization    
  
Pricing for Friday & Saturday  
Grand Ballroom (A, B & C), 9,390 sq. ft. 6,000.00 
Petite Ballroom (A & B), 6,031 sq. ft. 3,000.00 
Ballroom A, 3,462 sq. ft. 1,600.00 
Ballroom B, 2,569 sq. ft. 1,600.00 
Ballroom C, 3,969 sq. ft. 3,000.00 
Grand Salon, 2,852 sq. ft. 1,500.00 
Salon A, 1,406 sq. ft., ($255/4 hours-$319/5 hours) 850.00 
Salon B, 1,446 sq. ft., ($285/4 hours-$356/5 hours) 850.00 
Grand Meeting Room, 3,064 sq. ft. 1,688.00 
Petite Meeting Room (A & B), 2,128 sq. ft. 1,575.00 
Meeting Room A, 1,073 sq. ft., ($285/4 hours-$356/5 hours) 825.00 
Meeting Room B, 1,055 sq. ft., ($255/4 hours-$319/5 hours) 825.00 
Meeting Room C, 936 sq. ft. 563.00 
L&C Conference Room, 396 sq. ft. 263.00 
***In addition to the rental charge, there will be a $500 credit card authorization  
  
THE GATEWAY CONFERENCE CENTER  
Projectors (per projector) 100.00 
      Grand Ballroom  300.00 
      Grand Salon  200.00 
      Grand Meeting  300.00 
Stage: (8x8 with skirting) 375.00 
Podium with microphone 25.00 
Podium with computer 65.00 
Handheld or lapel microphone 25.00 



 

11 | P a g e  

 

THE GATEWAY CONFERENCE CENTER (continued)  
XLR input 25.00 
A/V rack 125.00 
Weekend A/V Tech (unscheduled) (rate per hour) 150.00 
A/V Tech (scheduled) (rate per hour) 100.00 
Stadium speakers and spotlights- Grand Ballroom 350.00 
Stadium speakers and spotlights- Ballroom C 150.00 
Sweetheart / Cake table (per table) 7.50 
Cocktail Table (per table) 10.00 
Mouthwash dispensers (per dispenser) 25.00 
Red Wine Corking Fee 200.00 
Dressing Lounges (use of 2nd set or use without appropriate room rental- only if available) 200.00 
Post Event Cleanup – (if this option is not chosen renters are responsible for  200.00 
            clean-up – Renters who do not choose this option and fail to clean-up  
            will be charged the $500 security deposit)  
Day of Event Coordinator – Half Day 400.00 
Day of Event Coordinator – Full Day 875.00 
Linen Package $239 Small Event / $479 Medium Event / $718 Large Event  
    Chair Covers $3/guest / Linen Napkins - $1.50/guest  
    Chiavari Chair Quote – Available upon request  
  
THE TAX ASSESOR’S OFFICE  
Price per copy of property tax record 0.25 
Price per copy of homeowner or business owner property tax record 0.00 
Price for digital parcels for entire Chester County 5,500.00 
  
  
TREASURER’S OFFICE  
Price per copy 0.25 
Credit Card Convenience Fee 2% of Total 
Vehicle Decal Fee 1.00 
Duplicate Receipt 1.00 
  
  
LANDFILL  
Price per ton – Transfer Station – MSW - Commercial 57.31 
Price per ton – Transfer Station – In County (Convenience Sites) 36.00 
Price per ton – C&D 48.00 
  
CHESTER COUNTY DETENTION CENTER  
Inmate housing to municipalities (suspended 5/20/19) 52.00 
  
  
CHESTER COUNTY CORONER’S OFFICE  
Coroner’s Report 50.00 
Autopsy Report  100.00 
Photographs (Per Photo) 2.00 
CD/Photographs 25.00 
Toxicology Report  50.00 
Cremation Report  20.00 
  
  

 
 
 
 



 

12 | P a g e  

 

 
 
SECTION 28: This ordinance shall take effect on July 1, 2025. Adopted this 2nd day of June 2025. 

 
 

 
 
____________________________________ ATTEST:    
Bobby Raines, Council Member (District 3) 
 
 
        By:  ______________________________ 
____________________________________        
Mike Vaughn, Council Member (District 2)           Kristie Donaldson 

        Clerk to County Council 
                Chester County, South Carolina 
 
____________________________________  First Reading:  May 5th, 2025 
John Agee, Council Member (District 1)   Second Reading: May 19th, 2025 
        Public Hearing: June 9th, 2025 
        Third Reading: June 9th, 2025 
 
____________________________________ 
Erin Mosley, Vice Chair (At Large) 
 
 
 
____________________________________   
Pete Wilson, Chair (District 4) 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Corey Guy, Council Member (District 5) 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
William Killian, Council Member (District 6) 



CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-10 

TO AMEND CHAPTER 2 – ARTICLE VI- BOARDS, 
COMMITTEES, COMMISSIONS AND DISTRICTS, DIVISION 1. 
GENERALLY- SECTION 2-266- BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
APPOINTED BY COUNCIL; RESIDENCY; VACANCY; 
QUORUM; COMPENSATION BY PROVIDING FOR REVISIONS 
OF THE MEMBERSHIP AND OPERATION OF BOARDS AND 
COMMISSION; AND SECTION 2-267- PERSONNEL 
HANDBOOK, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF CHESTER 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA TO AMEND THE ORDINANCE 
NUMBERING FOR SECTION 2-267; AND TO PROVIDE FOR 
OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, the County, by and through its County Council, is authorized and empowered to provide for 
the County’s internal operation according to South Carolina Constitution Article VIII, section 17, and the 
Home Rule Act of 1975, including section 4-9-10, et seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended; 

WHEREAS, the County previously enacted Chapter 2, Article VI, Section 2-266 of the Code of 
Ordinances of the County of Chester, South Carolina (“County Code”), which provides for a general 
description of matters related to Boards and Commissions;  

WHEREAS, the County also previously enacted Chapter 2, Article VI, Section 2-267 of the County Code, 
titled “Personnel handbook,” which does not apply to Boards, Commissions, and Districts, but rather should 
be listed under Article V- Departments as the Personnel handbook is relative to county employees; and 

WHEREAS, the County Council desires to provide revisions to Section 2-266 to clarify certain aspects 
and requirements of Boards and Commissions, and relocate Section 2-267. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Council ordains that Chapter 2, Article VI, Section 2-266 and amending of 
the County Code, be and is hereby amended, as and if amended, as noted between the “*” by removing all 
those matters showing a strikethrough in the text and adding all those matters showing an underline in the text 
as follows: 

*************************************************************************************************** 

CHAPTER 2- ADMINISTRATION 

ARTICLE V.- DEPARTMENTS 

Sec. 2-237. 2-270. Personnel Handbook. 



Personnel regulations established by the county administrator and approved by the county council shall be 

published in a personnel handbook and made available to each employee of the county.  

Secs. 2-238-2-265.- Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND DISTRICTS 

DIVISION 1.- GENERALLY 

Sec. 2-266. Boards and commissions appointed by Council; residency; vacancy; quorum; 

compensation .Notice; Membership, terms. 

(a) Pursuant to S.C. Code 1976, § 4 9 170, the County Council shall provide by ordinance for the 

appointment of all county boards, committees and commissions except those whose appointment 

is provided for by general law or the Constitution, school districts, and special purpose districts 

created by the general assembly. All members of boards and commissions shall serve until their 

successors are appointed and qualify.  

(b) A member of a county board or commission appointed to serve from a council district must be a 

resident of that district during the entire term of service. A member who moves residence from the 

district from which appointed, or from the county, automatically vacates the position. A member of 

a board or commission appointed by the county council may be removed by majority vote of the 

council. A vacancy shall be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner as the original 

appointment. 

(c) Unless otherwise specifically provided, a majority of the members serving on a board or commission 

shall constitute a quorum for the conduct of business.  

(d) Unless otherwise specifically provided, members of a board or commission shall receive such 

compensation and reimbursement for expenses as the county council may provide by budget 

ordinance. 

All existing boards, commissions, committees and councils created under the authority of S.C. Code 1976 § 4-

9-30, as amended, and any future boards, commissions, committees and councils created under such 

authority, except those whose appointment is provided for by general law or the Constitution, 

school districts, and special purpose districts created by the general assembly or otherwise 

specifically enumerated different procedures and terms of membership, shall adhere to the following 

procedures and terms of membership: 

Notice. Notice of open positions on boards and commissions will be posted on the county website. If there is a 

requirement that the member reside in a particular district, the district will be specified on the 

posting.  

Membership. 

(1) All boards, commissions, committees, and districts, except those specifically denoted otherwise, will 

hereunder be referred to as “board(s) and commission(s),”, to for consistency purposes throughout 

this Article. 

(2) All candidates for appointment to any board or commission created hereunder shall be required to 

furnish certain background information on a form approved by the County Attorney and the County 

Administrator. The form shall include the following information: 



a. Name, address and telephone number; 

b. Educational background; 

c. Employment history; 

d. A statement whether the applicant has been convicted of any crime other than minor traffic 

violations;  

e. Any potential conflicts that may arise with the position; and 

f. Any additional information the candidate wishes to supply indicating his or her fitness and 

qualification for the position.  

All appointees holding a position as of the effective date of the ordinance from which this article is 

derived shall also be required to supply the aforementioned information upon reapplying for his or her 

position.  

(3) As of March 17, 2025, each applicable board or commission created under the aforementioned 

authority shall have seven members, with one appointment per council district. Except where 

otherwise expressly provided by county ordinance or state law. All such appointees must reside in the 

district during the entire term of service. Other boards and commissions may have such members as 

indicated by separate ordinance or state law. Prior to the implementation of seven-members on March 

17, 2025, all existing boards and commissions created under the aforementioned authority will function 

as created, unless state law requires otherwise. If boards and commissions require additional members 

to be in compliance with this ordinance, at-large appointments will be made with the approval of 

council and will serve until December 31, 2025, or until new appointments are made as soon thereafter 

as possible to conform with the district requirements as set forth in this ordinance.  

(4) A member who moves residence from the district from which he or she is appointed, or from the 

county, the member automatically vacates the position. A vacancy shall be filled for an unexpired term 

in the same manner as the original appointment.  

(5) All existing and future appointments will serve at the pleasure of the council, except where otherwise 

specified by ordinance or state law. 

(6) County employees may not serve on a county board or commission.  

(7) Unless otherwise specifically provided, members of a board or commission shall receive such 

compensation and reimbursement for expenses as the county council may provide by budget 

ordinance.  

Sec. 2-267.- Personnel Handbook. Accountability of all boards, commissions, committee and districts. 

Personnel regulations established by the county supervisor and approved by the county council shall be 

published in a personnel handbook and made available to each employee of the county.  

(1) Meetings and public hearings.  

a. Boards and commissions shall meet at regular intervals, but not less frequently than once each 

calendar quarter, unless otherwise specified by ordinance or state law.  

b. A schedule of meetings for the calendar year shall be provided to the clerk to council in 

January, unless otherwise specified by ordinance or state law. Special called meetings or any 

changes to a scheduled meeting, must provide notice to the clerk to council as soon as 

reasonably practicable, but no later than 24 hours in advance of the meeting.   

c. All meetings shall be in a place accessible and open to the general public. Boards and 

commissions of county government shall hold meetings in public facilities.  



d. Meetings and actions of all boards and commissions shall be governed by the requirements of 

the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (S.C. Code of Laws, §30-3-10 to §30-5-50).   

e. All meetings shall be advertised as a minimum with a notice posted on the bulletin board in 

the county building, in a public area where the meeting will be held and posted on the county 

website at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the scheduled meeting.  

f. All board and commission meetings at which public hearings are to be conducted must be 

advertised at least once in a newspaper of general circulation in Chester County fifteen (15) 

days prior to the date scheduled for the public hearing in addition to the normal meeting 

notice. 

(2) Minutes. 

a. Minutes and other official records of all meetings and actions shall be kept. 

b. Copies of minutes and other official records of all meetings, duly signed by the appropriate 

officer, shall be forwarded to the clerk to council within fifteen (15) days after each meeting. 

Sec. 2-268. Attendance, officers, quorum, procedures and other matters. 

(1) Attendance. Members are expected to attend meetings of boards and commissions to which they have 

been appointed. An attendance roster, including the names of the members who attended and who did 

not attend, shall be included in the minutes of each meeting.   

(2) Absences. A member who is absent from four (4) consecutive meetings without valid reason, such as 

illness or pressing personal commitments, shall be considered a voluntary resignation by the member. 

The secretary of the board or commission shall notify the clerk to council of resignations due to 

absence from the meetings and other resignation and vacancies within thirty (30) days of the effective 

date thereof. Any member may also be removed or replaced at will by the appointing council member.  

(3) Officers. Each board or committee shall elect a chairperson, a vice-chairperson, and a secretary. Each 

newly elected chairperson shall immediately attend a training session regarding the procedures for 

proper governance. Additionally, the entire board or committee shall participate in an informative 

meeting detailing the function and duties of such board or committee. 

(4) Quorum. In order for a board or committee to conduct business, a majority of serving members shall 

be present, unless otherwise specifically stated.  

(5) Reports and Recommendations. Some boards or committees shall make recommendations in their area of 

expertise to council as referenced in the ordinance creating the board or committee. The boards and 

committees who make recommendations may do so in writing or formal presentation at a council 

meeting by the chairperson or a designated member.  If an action must be made based on the 

recommendation to council, such recommendation shall only become effective if approved or enacted 

by council. If the board or commission is provided authority to make independent decisions without 

approval of council as stated within the ordinance creating the board or commission, the board or 

commission shall make the decision without a recommendation or presentation to council. 

Sec. 2-269. - Administrative and enforcement provisions. 



(a) Repeal of inconsistent laws. All local statutes, ordinances, laws and resolutions in conflict with this division 

[section 2-266 et seq.] are hereby repealed or amended to the extent of such conflict. 

(b) Additional regulations. Separate ordinances specifically governing each commission shall be prepared and 

enacted to set forth the duties and responsibilities assigned. 

Secs. 2-270-2-297. Reserved. 

 

*************************************************************************************************** 

Repealer. Each ordinance, resolution, regulation, order, or other directive of the County, and each part of 
the same, in conflict with this Ordinance, is, to the extent of that conflict, repealed, and replaced by this 
Ordinance. 

Codification. The County shall codify the contents of this Ordinance in Chapter 2, Article V and VI of 

the County Code as Sections 2-237 and 2-266 through 2-269, or as otherwise appropriately numbered, online 

as soon as practicable and in print as part of the County’s next, regular, re-codification. 

Rights Reserved to County. This Ordinance does not vest any rests in any person or entity, and the 
County reserves the right to repeal or amend this Ordinance and other portions of the County Code, at any 
time, from time to time, as often as the County, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. 

Savings Clause. Nothing in this Ordinance abrogates, diminishes, or otherwise alters any matter that arose 
under Chapter 2, Article V and VI of the County Code as Sections 2-237 and 2-266 through 2-269 of the 
County Code then-existing prior to the enactment of this Ordinance and any matter that so arose shall be 
administered according to such provisions as they existed prior to the enactment of this Ordinance. 

Severability. If any part of this Ordinances is unenforceable for any reason, then the remainder of this 
Ordinance remains in full force and effect. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 

  



CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:       
Pete Wilson 

[SEAL]      Chairman, County Council 

Attest: 

     
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 

First Reading:  March 17, 2025 
Second Reading:  April 21, 2025 
Public Hearing:  April 21, 2025 
Third Reading:  May 5, 2025 

 





















































































TO:  Chester County Council 
  cc: Brian Hester, County Administrator 
FROM: Jeremy Ward, Planning and Development Director 
RE:  Summary of Planning Commission Meeting on 4.15.25 
DATE: 4.29.25 
 

Council: 

 
Since the official minutes have not been approved yet by the Planning Commission, I have 
written these summary notes from the meeting to help give you context on the two rezoning 
cases. Please reach out if you have any questions or need more information.  

 
Four Planning Commission members in attendance: Shawn Hough, Todd Love, Nancy 
Walley, Azzie Lee Hill. 

 
1. CCMA 25-16: Abishek Devgan requests a portion (0.75 acres) of Tax Map #019-00-

00-011-000 located at 3283 Pinckney Road, Chester, SC 29706 from Rural Two 
District (R2) to General Commercial District (GC). 
 

a. Background: Mr. Devgan wants to open a liquor store in a building previously 
used for storage across the street, but on the same parcel, as Grant’s Grocery. The 
surrounding West Chester area is all zoned R-2 (Rural Two), which does not 
permit liquor stores (see Image #1). Grant’s Grocery is a non-conforming use, 
meaning it was active before zoning was instituted in 1999 and has continued ever 
since. (see Image #2 and #3 for Grant’s and the proposed liquor store). If 
approved, he would subdivide the parcel with the liquor store out. 
 
The Chester County Zoning Ordinance says that a non-conforming use cannot be 
changed to another non-conforming use, extended, enlarged, or intensified, or 
reestablished after vacancy, abandonment, or discontinuance after 6 months of 
being inactive. Because a liquor store would be a new use, not permitted in the R-
2 zoning district, and in a building that is not currently “grandfathered”/non-
conforming, Mr. Devgan’s only option is to have it rezoned.  
 
There are no other commercially-zoned properties in the area and the 2020 
Comprehensive Plan shows this as an area marked for “Rural Living.” 
 

b. Summary of Meeting: Mike and Susan Cassels came to speak in opposition, 
citing concerns about heavy and fast traffic, how close their property was to the 



site, and that a lot of people in the community that didn’t want it there. The 
applicant showed a list of about 100 people who had signed a petition of support. 
He said that he had opened the store in February for around a week after getting 
his liquor license, and then shut it down when I told him to. Chairman Hough 
made a motion to approve for discussion, seconded by Vice-Chairman Hill. I 
clarified about our laws on non-conforming uses, the zoning of the property and 
surrounding area, and other details. Commissioner Love said that it would be out 
of keeping with the character for the rural community for it to be rezoned to allow 
a liquor store. Commissioner Walley seemed to think that the entire parcel should 
have been rezoned to GC initially when zoning was instituted, instead of Grant’s 
being a nonconforming use. 
 

c. Vote: The PC voted 3-1 (Commissioner Love voted no) to recommend approval. 
 

Image #1 – Nearby Zoning (grey is R-2) 

 
(property in question in neon blue) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Image #2 

 
Grant’s Grocery 

 
Image #3 

 
Proposed liquor store location (opposite side of the road from Grant’s Grocery) 

 
 





 
Image #5 

 
Close-up of Project Road Candy site 

 

 
 
 

Jeremy Ward 
Planning and Development Director 
Chester County Government 














































































